2003

MACHELLE CANFIELD, Plaintiff and Appellant,
vs. LAYTON CITY, a Utah Municipality,
Defendant and Appellee. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Jurisdiction	

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j)(2003).

Issues and Standard of Review

Is an employment claim against a government entity, which sounds in contract, exempt from the notice requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1) (2003)? This issue was raised and preserved in briefing before the District Court. (R. at 28-36.)

This issue involves the interpretation of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-1, et seq. A matter of statutory construction is a

question of law, to be reviewed for correctness. See, Taghipour v. Jerez, 2002 UT 74, ¶8, 52 P.3d 1252.

Determinative Statutory Provisions

This case is determined by Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1) (2003), which states:

Immunity from suit of all government entities is waived as to any contractual obligation. Actions arising out of contractual rights or obligations shall not be subject to the requirements of Sections 63-30-11, 63-30-12, 63-30-13, 63-30-14, 63-30-15, or 63-10-19.

Statement of the Case

This case comes to the Court of Appeals as a result of the district court's dismissal of Plaintiff's complaint under Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). The district court determined that Plaintiff had not provided notice under the Governmental Immunity Act and could not, therefore, proceed. This appeal follows.

Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant Layton City. Plaintiff, in her complaint, alleged that she was constructively terminated in violation of the Defendant's written policy manual and in violation of her contractual rights of

good faith and fair dealing. Because Plaintiff's complaint sounded exclusively in contract, compliance with the notice provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act has been waived by the plain terms of the Act itself. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1).

Statement of Facts

1. Plaintiff was constructively terminated from her employment at Layton City on 2 July 2001. She had been employed for fourteen years as a police dispatcher.
2. Plaintiff filed a Complaint on 14 March 2002 in the Second Judicial District Court for Davis County, Case No. 020800412.
3. Defendant removed the case to Federal Court asserting that Plaintiff was attempting to assert an equal protection claim under 42 U.S.C. §1983. No such cause of action pleaded or attempted. Ultimately, the United States District Court dismissed the removed case since there was no basis for federal jurisdiction.
4. After the case was dismissed, Plaintiff immediately refiled her complaint in Second District Court for Davis County, Case no. 020700620. Exhibit B.

5. After Plaintiff filed its new complaint, Defendant moved to dismiss the case under Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) for failure to comply with the notice requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. This was the first time Defendant had raised such an issue.
6. Plaintiff's complaint alleged that she was terminated in violation of an employment contract, as contained in Defendant's policy manual. Plaintiff also alleged that her constructive termination was in violation the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Exhibit B, Complaint.
7. After briefing¹, the District Court, without issuing any memorandum decision, and without informing Plaintiff, ruled in favor of Defendant and granted the Motion to Dismiss. The court's decision was communicated solely to Defendant's counsel by the court clerk. The mechanism of communication is evidenced by the cover letter Defendant's counsel submitted to Plaintiff with the draft order. See Exhibit C.

¹Significantly, Defendant filed its motion to dismiss and memorandum citing to a number of Utah immunity cases, virtually all of which were tort cases. Defendant did not cite or analyze the contract provision of the Governmental Immunity Act. Plaintiff's memorandum in opposition, conversely, raised the contract provision and provided analysis. Defendant filed no reply memorandum to Plaintiff's briefing and thus, provided the trial court with no contrary analysis and did not preserve any counterarguments in the record.

8. No notice of the court's decision was ever provided by the Court to Plaintiff or Plaintiff's counsel.
9. The Court entered the Order prepared by Defendant on 19 February 2003, from which Plaintiff timely appeals. Exhibit A.

Summary of Argument

Plaintiff was constructively terminated from her employment with Defendant Layton City. Following her termination, Plaintiff sued the city for breach of its contractual obligations. Under the plain language of the Governmental Immunity Act, immunity was waived for Plaintiff's claim and compliance with the terms of the Act was also waived. The district court's determination –without analysis– that Plaintiff's claims were barred by the Governmental Immunity Act was incorrect as a matter of law. The statutory language is clear, as are the decisions of courts interpreting it. Plaintiff's claims should be allowed to proceed. The district court's decision should be reversed and this matter remanded for further proceedings.

Argument

I. Under the Plain Language of the Utah Government Immunity Act, Plaintiff Was Not Required to Comply with Statutory Notice Requirements.

Plaintiff's complaint sounds in contract. Her claims are for a constructive termination in violation of the Defendant's written policy manual and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. A contract claim could not be more clearly stated. Claims against municipalities, including contract claims, are subject to the terms of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Ann. §§63-30-1, et seq. (2003). Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3(1) (2003) provides for a general claim of immunity, subject to the exceptions detailed in the Act: "Except as may be otherwise provided in this chapter, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function..."

The Act contains numerous areas of the law for which sovereign immunity is waived. For example, the Act waives immunity for actions involving possession or title to real or personal property. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-6 (2003). The Act waives immunity for certain cases of negligence. Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-7, 63-30-10 (2003). The Act also waives immunity from suit in actions involving injuries sustained from unsafe public roads and buildings. See, Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-8, 63-30-9 (2003). As to each of the foregoing sections, however,

persons desirous of pursuing a claim against a governmental entity must still comply with the notice requirements set forth in the Act.

Contract claims are different. The Act provides, “Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived as to any contractual obligations. Actions arising out of contractual rights or obligations shall not be subject to the requirements of Section 63-30-11, 63-30-12, 63-30-13, 63-30-14, 63-30-15, or 63-30-19.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1) (2003).² Under this section, immunity from suit is waived as to any actions against governmental entities sounding in contract. Significantly, not only is sovereign immunity waived by §63-30-5(1), but compliance with all of the notice and claim provisions contained in the Act is also waived.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that the “Governmental Immunity Act must be strictly applied.” See, Hall v. Utah State Dep’t of Corrections, 2001 UT 34, ¶14, 24 P.3d 958. (Citations omitted.) Statutes should also be construed to “evinced the true intent and purpose of the Legislature [as expressed through] the plain language of the Act,” and courts should “avoid interpretations that will

²The only exception to the waiver of actions sounding in contract involves the Division of Water Resources under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5 (2) and is not applicable to the case at bar.

render portions of a statute superfluous or inoperative.” Id. at ¶15. (Citations omitted.) The District Court’s decision reads Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1) out of the Act and is therefore improper.

Given the numerous diverse areas in which the Act waives immunity or compliance with the notice provisions of the Act, the proper analytical framework would include: (1) A consideration of the claim, as set forth in the Complaint, without reference to the Act or any governmental entity to determine the actual nature of the claim asserted, i.e., contract, negligence, property, etc.; (2) a categorization of the claim as actually asserted; (3) a review of the Act to see whether immunity has been waived and whether compliance with the Act has been waived; and (4) an application of the plain terms of the Act to the actual claim. It is essential to the proper application of the Act to engage in a clear, deliberative analysis to categorize, analyze, and determine governmental immunity claims. See, Camas Colorado, Inc. v. Board of County Commr’s, 36 P.2d 135, 138 (Colo. Ct. App. 2001)(holding that, under Colorado’s immunity act, courts should analyze the claim itself and determine, based upon a classification of the claim, whether governmental immunity applies). The record fails to reveal that the trial court engage in any such deliberation.

Other courts have demonstrated the proper analysis. For example, the North Carolina Court of Appeals analyzed a claim for unpaid wages, determined that such claim arose from a contractual right, and that therefore, sovereign immunity was waived under an immunity statute similar to Utah's. Paquette v. County of Durham, 573 S.E.2d 715, 718 (N.C. Ct. App. 2002). In another case, a court concluded that a claim for money had and received, based upon a faulty civil forfeiture, sounded in contract for immunity analysis purposes. Karpierz v. Easley, 31 S.W.2d 505, 511 (Mo. Ct. App. 2000).

In this matter, the district court engaged in no such analysis and made no findings, instead making the bald assertion, "The claims plaintiff has asserted in her Complaint dated November 25, 2002, are barred by the Governmental Immunity Act."³ (See, Exhibit A, ¶2.) This conclusion is unsupported by the evidence and is incorrect as a matter of law. Analysis of the claims presented in Plaintiff's Complaint dictates the opposite outcome on this question. The

³It is significant to note that Plaintiff/Appellant did not have the benefit of even knowing the district court had made a decision. In a strange procedure, the district court informed Defendant's counsel of its decision. The only notice Plaintiff had of the decision was the draft copy of the order sent out by Defendant's counsel. See Letter, Exhibit C. While there is was no actual impropriety here, it is difficult to explain to non-lawyers that such a procedure is fair and transparent. Such an approach is certainly ill-advised and fairly raises the appearance of impropriety to litigants and the public.

Complaint makes specific contractually based allegations regarding Plaintiff's use of sick leave, accounting for hours, and other contractual matters. (See, Exhibit B, ¶¶ 4-11.) The Complaint alleges that Defendant violated its own written personnel policies, which have contractual significance, in its treatment of Plaintiff. (See, Exhibit B, ¶¶12-13, 17.) The Complaint also alleges that given the policy, Plaintiff was treated unfairly, thus implicating the city's contractual obligation of good faith and fair dealing. (See, Exhibit B, ¶17.) Finally, Plaintiff's Complaint sought damages that were contractual in nature. Indeed, Plaintiff made no tort claims whatsoever against the Defendant. Its only claims were related to Plaintiff's contractual relationship with Layton City. (See, Exhibit B.)

Given the nature of Plaintiff's claims, there is only one possible conclusion under the plain language of the Government Immunity Act. Plaintiffs' cause of action sounds in contract. Therefore, Utah has waived immunity, as well as waived any need for Plaintiff to comply with the notice requirements demanded of other claimants under the Governmental Immunity Act. Any other interpretation would render the notice waiver contained in Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1) superfluous and inoperative. The district court erred in so doing; its decision should be reversed and this matter remanded.

II. Court Interpretation of Governmental Immunity Supports Plaintiff's Interpretation of the Statute.

Utah's appellate courts have regularly faced issues related to the Governmental Immunity Act. In their decisions, these courts have recognized that Utah has waived immunity for contractual obligations, including the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. See, Brown v. Moore, 973 P.2d 950, 954 (Utah 1998); Brown v. Weis, 871 P.2d 552, 563-64 and n.18 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). Utah Appellate Courts have explicitly noted that suits arising against governmental entities, like Layton City, arising out of contract do not need to be preceded by the notice provisions otherwise applicable under the Governmental Immunity Act. See, Neilson v. Gurley, 888 P.2d 130, 135 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

Recently, this Court concluded that a passenger injured while riding in a State-owned automobile was entitled to assert a claim without satisfying the notice and claim provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act. See, Neel v. State, 854 P.2d 581, 582-83 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). This Court concluded that the passenger/plaintiff was the third party beneficiary of the State's "contractual" obligation to provide PIP benefits as a self-insurer. Id. See, Stewart ex rel. Womack v. City of Jackson, 804 So.2d 1041, 1044 (Miss. 2002)(similar holding under arising from third party beneficiary analysis). In another matter, the Utah

Supreme Court concluded that §63-30-5 governed an unsigned contract for a right-of-way. See, Farmers New World Life Ins. Co. v. Bountiful City, 803 P.2d 1241, 1248 (Utah 1990). In that case, the court concluded that even though the city did not sign the contract, by accepting the grant and paying for an easement, the city entered into a contract. The Court concluded that the contract waiver provision of §63-30-5 applied even though the easement was for flood control purposes. Id. It is clear that cases brought before the courts sounding in contract have been consistently held to be governed by § 63-30-5.

Indeed, those cases where the courts have held notice requirements to be an issue are distinguishable from the case *sub judice*. For example, in Hall, a Utah Department of Corrections officer settled a claim relating to his treatment while employed, an allegedly unlawful demotion. He received a payment for this settlement. Hall, at ¶3. Subsequently, he resigned from the department and alleged that the department had made disparaging reports about him to prospective employers, which prevented him from obtaining employment. Id. at ¶5. The court concluded that these *tort* based claims were subject to the notice provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act. Id. at ¶¶21-26. This Court took a similar approach in Broadbent v. Board of Education of Cache County, 910 P.2d

1274, 1280 (Utah Ct. App. 1996), disposing of Plaintiff's *tort* claims because of the Governmental Immunity Act.

There is also support for Plaintiff's position in case law from other jurisdictions. Garcia v. Middle Rio Grande Conservancy District, 918 P.2d 7 (N.M. 1996), is one such example. New Mexico, like Utah, has a general statutory scheme creating governmental immunity. In addition, New Mexico has an exception to the rule established in N.M. Stat. Ann. § 37-1-23, through which the state has waived immunity from suit for actions based on written contracts. Garcia, like the instant matter, involved a dispute over violations of a government's entities written employment policies. See, Garcia, 918 P.2d at 9. The governmental entity challenged the suit arguing that it was immune because of sovereign immunity. However, the court held that the nature of the defendant's policies, created an implied employment contract, which fell squarely under the statutory exception. Id. at 11-13.

Harris v. State Personnel Bd., 216 Cal. Rptr. 274 (Ct. App. 1985), is another example. California's Tort Claims Act establishes immunity from suit, and contains notice requirements similar to those in Utah's code. Id. at 276. However, like Utah, contract actions are expressly exempted from California's immunity scheme by Cal. Gov't. Code §814. Id. In Harris, a state employee

brought a claim based on his termination and appeal rights. Id. at 275. The Harris court noted that the Tort Claims Act excluded actions arising on contract, and noted that the plaintiff's dispute, centered in his employment contract, did not sound in tort, and was therefore exempt from statutory notice requirements. Id. at 276.

A similar example is Tennyson v. School District of Menomonie Area, 606 N.W.2d 594 (Wis. Ct. App. 1999). In Tennyson, a governmental employee claimed she was constructively terminated. The governmental agency claimed that the constructive termination claim was a tort claim masquerading as a contract claim. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals rejected this argument out of hand, holding that a constructive termination sounded in contract and therefore governmental immunity was waived under Wisconsin's immunity statute. Id. at 602 n.9. Even when a claim would support both a contract and a tort claim, at least one court has held that only the tort claim is governed by a state immunity statute which waives immunity for contract but not tort claims. Koenig v. City of South Haven, 597 N.W.2d 99, 104 (Mich. 1999).

Like Garcia, Harris, and Tennyson, the instant matter is a cause of action centered on Plaintiff's rights under her employment contract as contained in Defendant's written policies. Like New Mexico, California and Wisconsin, Utah

expressly excludes contractual obligations from its governmental immunity scheme. Other states have reached the same conclusion. CSX Transp., Inc. v. City of Garden City, 325 F.3d 1236, 1242 n.6 (11th Cir. 2003)(holding Georgia had waived sovereign immunity for contract claims); J.P. Asset Co., Inc. v. City of Wichita, 70 P.3d 711, 715 (Kan. Ct. App. 2003)(holding that only a tort claimant, not a contract claimant, need comply with the notice requirements Kansas' immunity act). Causes of action against governmental entities based on employment contracts are excluded from the Governmental Immunity Act's scope, and any notice requirements are waived.

Since the Governmental Immunity Act squarely waives immunity for contract claims *and* squarely waives compliance with the notice and claim provisions of the Act, Plaintiff was not required to provide any notice or claim prior to filing her complaint. Defendant's invocation of the Act was baseless. The trial court's determination was erroneous. The trial court's dismissal of Plaintiff's complaint should therefore be reversed and this case remanded.

III. The Utah Governmental Immunity Act Should Be Liberally Construed in This Case

While Utah's appellate courts have routinely held that compliance with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act must be strict, the Act itself should be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes. The Act clearly expresses an intent to not require compliance with the notice requirements for "any contractual obligation." Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1)(2003). This intent should be broadly and liberally construed to effectuate the Legislature's purpose in modifying the common law.

"It is generally true that the Utah Governmental Immunity Act expanded government liability." Condemarin v. University Hospital, 775 P.2d 348, 351 (Utah 1989). The Utah Governmental Immunity Act was therefore in derogation of the common law. By legislative action, Utah has rejected the canon of interpretation that provides that statutes in derogation of the common law are to be strictly construed; the statutes of the state of Utah are to be liberally construed with a view to accomplishment of the objects of the statutes and to promote justice. Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-2 (2003). This section was expressly intended to abrogate the common law rule of strict construction of statutes which are in derogation of the common law. See In Re Garr's Estate, 86 P. 757, 761 (Utah 1906).

Under this case, the contract provision of the immunity act, § 63-30-5(1), should be liberally construed. Camas Colorado, 36 P.3d at 138. In this case, the trial court applied the statute so narrowly as to ignore its express provisions relating to contracts. Assuming the trial court analyzed the nature of the Plaintiff's claims, as contained in the complaint, its analysis was so crabbed and unsparing that it violated the rule that statutes in derogation of the common law are to be liberally construed. The trial court's decision -there was no analysis- was erroneous. It should be reversed.

Conclusion

Under the plain language of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, immunity is waived for claims arising out of the state's contractual obligations. Plaintiff filed claims against Layton City based on her employment contract with the city. These claims are wholly permissible under the Governmental Immunity Act, and because of their contractual nature, are exempt from the notice and claim requirements of the act. Moreover, the Act should, in this respect, be liberally construed to effectuate the Legislative purpose of allowing contract claims to proceed without compliance with the notice and claim provisions of the Act. Only this analysis is faithful to the terms of the Act. The decision of the

District Court should be reversed and this case remanded for further proceedings..