2003

# Machelle Canfield v. Layton City : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

*Id.* at ¶ 8 n.7 (quoting *Wright v. Kansas Water Office*, 881 P.2d 567, 571 (Kan. 1994)) (emphasis in original). As additional support for the contract/statute distinction, *Knight* cited *Weese v. Davis County Commission*, 834 P.2d 1, 3 (Utah 1992), as stating that "[t]he county only has those rights and powers granted it by

the Utah Constitution and statutes or those implied as a necessary means to accomplish them.” *Id.* at ¶ 8 n.7.

Based on these standards and based on the grant of authority to municipalities in Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-815, any alleged rights of the City’s employees are statutory and not contractual. Accordingly, the Act required Ms. Canfield to file a notice of claim before bringing this lawsuit.<sup>11</sup>

Finally, contrary to the assertions in her brief, Ms. Canfield has failed to cite any Utah case law that would support her “contract” argument. For example, her citation to *Neel v. State*, 854 P.2d 581 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) is misplaced because that case deals with a specific Utah statute that states that an action to obtain PIP

---

<sup>11</sup>There is also no merit to Ms. Canfield’s argument that the Act should be liberally construed in her case. Ms. Canfield cites Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-2 as support for this argument. However, the Act deals with sovereign immunity, and not with common law claims, whereas § 68-3-2 addresses common law causes of action. Moreover, Utah courts have never construed the Act “liberally” (*see, e.g., Wheeler*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 11, 40 P.3d 632), and may not accept at face value any arguments that a plaintiff may make so as to avoid the implications of the Act (*see, e.g., Tiede v. State of Utah*, 915 P.2d 500 (Utah 1996); *Wright v. University of Utah*, 876 P.2d 380, 383 (Utah Ct. App. 1994)). Likewise, Ms. Canfield’s argument regarding an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim is also misplaced, because the Complaint on its face makes no such claim. Regardless, there must be a contract for there to be such an implied covenant and, as discussed above, the basis for the subject claim is statutory not contractual.

benefits is contractual.<sup>12</sup> *Id.* at 583. Nor does *Farmers New World Life Insurance Co. v. Bountiful City*, 803 P.2d 1241 (Utah 1990), support her position. The “contract” there was a right-of-way agreement entered into by Bountiful City and Farmers Insurance, which the City did not sign but which it accepted and used, and for which “valuable consideration” was transferred. *Id.* 803 P.2d at 1248. Based on these facts, the court found that the contractual obligation waiver in the Act applied because a contract had been formed. *Id.* Significantly, Ms. Canfield has failed to point to any agreement, acceptance, or consideration, and has not provided this Court or the trial court with the “contract” on which she relies.<sup>13</sup>

Similarly, the case law from other jurisdictions cited by Ms. Canfield is inapplicable. For example, *Camas Colorado, Inc. v. Board of County Comm’rs*,

---

<sup>12</sup>The basis for plaintiff’s claims in *Neel* was Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(5) which expressly stated that “If the insurer fails to pay the expenses when due, . . . [t]he person entitled to the benefits may bring an action in contract to recover the expenses.” *Neel*, 854 P.2d at 583 (quoting statute).

<sup>13</sup>*Broadbent v. Board of Education*, 910 P.2d 1274 (Utah Ct. App. 1996), also fails to support the “contract” argument. The plaintiff there alleged termination in violation of public policy. *Id.* at 1276. The court found that this claim sounded in tort, not contract, and defendant had not waived immunity for this type of tort claim. *Id.* at 1277.

36 P.3d 135 (Colo. Ct. App. 2001), involved a specific written contract between the County and the plaintiff/contractor.<sup>14</sup> *Id.* at 137.

**B. THIS LAWSUIT IS PROPERLY DISMISSED ON GROUNDS OF RES JUDICATA.**

In *Madsen v. Borthick*, 769 P.2d 245 (Utah 1988), the Utah Supreme Court stated that claim preclusion bars a lawsuit if: (1) the prior and present lawsuit involve the same parties or their privies, (2) the claim alleged to be barred was presented in the first lawsuit or could and should have been raised, and (3) the first

---

<sup>14</sup>Other cases cited by Ms. Canfield are also inapposite. *See Paquette v. County of Durham*, 573 S.E.2d 715 (N.C. Ct. App.) (claim for unpaid back wages for overtime worked); *Harris v. State Personnel Bd.*, 216 Cal. Rptr. 274 (Ct. App. 1985) (mandamus claim for unpaid back wages; employee had exhausted all administrative remedies); *Karpierz v. Easley*, 31 S.W.3d 505 (Mo. Ct. App. 2000) (civil forfeiture case seeking return of monies seized); *Garcia v. Middle Rio Grande Conservancy Dist.*, 918 P.2d 7 (N.M. 1996) (no discussion of notice of claim; no evidence that employer's manual stated it was not a contract); *Tennyson v. School Dist. of Menomonee Area*, 606 N.W.2d 594 (Wis. Ct. App. 1999) (written policy guaranteed employees they would not be discharged without cause); *Koenig v. City of S. Haven*, 597 N.W.2d 99 (Mich. 1999) (involving third-party beneficiary to memorandum of understanding between City and Army Corp. of Engineers); *CNX Transp., Inc. v. City of Garden City*, 325 F.3d 1236 (11th Cir. 2003) (City admits contract between City and railroad does not sound in tort); *J.P. Asset Co. v. City of Wichita*, 70 P.3d 711 (Kan. Ct. App. 2003) (no discussion of contract or governmental immunity); *Stewart ex rel. Womack v. City of Jackson*, 804 So.2d 1041 (Miss. 2002) (third-party beneficiary of express written contract between city agency and University of Mississippi Medical Center).

lawsuit resulted in a final judgment on the merits. *Id.* at 247; *see also Macris & Assoc., Inc. v. Neways, Inc.*, 2000 UT 93, ¶ 20, 16 P.3d 1214.<sup>15</sup>

In this case, each of the three elements of claim preclusion are satisfied. First, the parties in the prior federal lawsuit are identical to the parties in this lawsuit. Second, it is obvious that the claim presented in the prior federal lawsuit is the same claim presented in this lawsuit because the underlying complaints in the two lawsuits are essentially identical. Third, the dismissal of the prior federal lawsuit constitutes a final judgment on the merits. Specifically, there was an adjudication on the merits because the federal lawsuit was dismissed based on Ms. Canfield's failure to comply with the federal court's Order. *See, e.g., Henderson v. Consolidated Merch. Corp.*, 286 F. Supp. 697, 698 (N.D. Ga. 1968) (dismissal due to failure to comply with court's order is adjudication on the merits under Fed.R.Civ.P. 41). Accordingly, this lawsuit is barred by res judicata, and is properly dismissed.

Although Ms. Canfield admits that the federal court dismissed virtually the same complaint that she filed in this lawsuit, she has mistakenly informed both

---

<sup>15</sup>Significantly, the Court also pointed out that Utah Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 41, which is substantially the same as the federal rule, definitively operates as an adjudication on the merits unless a dismissal was for lack of jurisdiction, improper venue, or lack of an indispensable party. *Madsen*, 769 P.2d at 248.

this Court and the trial court that the dismissal was for lack of federal subject matter jurisdiction. *See* Aplt Br. p. 3.; R. 30-31. However, the record shows that the federal court dismissed Ms. Canfield's lawsuit because she failed to comply with the court's direct order that she file a second amended complaint to state her claim(s) specifically. Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41, dismissal for failure to comply with a court order operates as an adjudication on the merits:

For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against the defendant. Unless the court in its order for dismissal otherwise specifies, a dismissal under this subdivision and any dismissal not provided for in this rule, other than dismissal for lack of jurisdiction, for improper venue, or for failure to join a party under Rule 19, operates as an adjudication on the merits.

Fed.R.Civ.P. 41(2)(b).

Filings in the federal district court show that, after the court issued an Order to Show Cause why the lawsuit should not be dismissed on jurisdictional grounds, Ms. Canfield informed the City's attorneys that her claim was one for due process and implicated the Fourteenth Amendment. *See* Part IV(B)(1) *supra*, discussing the federal lawsuit. Ms. Canfield never filed a response to the federal court's Order to Show Cause, never responded or objected when the City submitted to the federal court the letter in which she admitted that her claim was one for due process implicating the Fourteenth Amendment, and never responded or objected

when the City informed the federal court that Ms. Canfield had stated that her claim was a due process claim under the Fourteenth Amendment. *See id.*

Significantly, the federal court did not follow through on its Order to Show Cause by dismissing the lawsuit at that time. Instead, the Federal court retained jurisdiction of the lawsuit and, on October 1, 2002, it granted the City's motion requesting that Ms. Canfield be ordered to amend her Complaint, and gave Ms. Canfield thirty days in which to do so.<sup>16</sup> *See Order, Aplee Add., Ex. 8.*

Ms. Canfield did not amend her complaint as required by the federal court's October 1, 2002 Order and, on November 15, 2003, the City filed a motion to dismiss based on her failure to comply with this court order. *See Aplee Add., Ex. 9.* On November 18, 2002, Judge Kimball dismissed Ms. Canfield's lawsuit due to her failure to comply with the court's October 1, 2002 Order. *See Order, Aplee Add., Ex. 10.*

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that Ms. Canfield's lawsuit was dismissed due to her failure to comply with the court's order to file a second amended complaint, and not because of lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Accordingly, the

---

<sup>16</sup>The federal court's Order was clearly based on the City's response to the Order to Show Cause wherein it had notified the court of Ms. Canfield's admission that she was asserting a claim that implicated the Fourteenth Amendment.



federal court's dismissal of Ms. Canfield's prior lawsuit was a dismissal on the merits and, as a result, this lawsuit is barred by claim preclusion under the doctrine of res judicata.

**C. THE TRIAL COURT AND THIS COURT LACK SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION BECAUSE MS. CANFIELD FAILED TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.**

Although Ms. Canfield admitted to the trial court that she resigned her employment (R. 29),<sup>17</sup> she contends in her appellate brief that she was treated differently than other City employees with regard to sick leave, and was constructively terminated.<sup>18</sup> In light of this contention, this lawsuit should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction due to Ms. Canfield's failure to exhaust administrative remedies.

Utah law makes clear that courts lack subject matter jurisdiction when a plaintiff fails to exhaust administrative procedures or remedies. For example, in

---

<sup>17</sup>The Complaint states that “[b]ecause of her fear that a termination would preclude her from gaining future gainful employment, Plaintiff reluctantly and against her will accepted termination.” R. 4. In her memorandum opposing the City's Motion to Dismiss, Ms. Canfield stated that she “admits that she resigned her employment under the circumstances detailed in her complaint.” R. 29-30.

<sup>18</sup>Based on the allegations in her Complaint, Ms. Canfield was not constructively terminated. “If an employee resigns of her own free will, even as a result of the employer's actions, that employee will not be held to have been constructively discharged.” *Heno v. Sprint/United Mgmt. Co.*, 208 F.3d 847, 858 (10th Cir. 2000) (citation omitted).

*Patterson v. American Fork City*, 2003 UT 7, 67 P.3d. 466, the Court dismissed claims brought by a real estate developer because the developer failed to exhaust administrative remedies under Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-1001(1). *Id.* ¶¶ 14-16.

*Patterson* recognized that § 10-9-1001 authorizes municipalities to adopt administrative procedures to govern land use decisions, and that American Fork City had done so in its Development Code. *Id.* ¶ 16. The Utah Supreme Court accordingly found that the developer’s failure to exhaust these procedures resulted in a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* ¶ 17; *see also id.* ¶¶ 18-19 (discussing failure to exhaust remedies).

In this case, Ms. Canfield has also failed to exhaust administrative remedies. Utah statutory law gives municipalities the authority to prescribe policies and procedures to govern their efficient operation **as the municipalities “deem best,”** so long as the policies and procedures do not conflict with laws of the state. Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-815. The City has done so by establishing procedures for employees to present grievances and object to disciplinary actions, performance evaluations, and termination, including an appeals process. *See Layton City Policies and Procedures*, attached as Ex. 13 to Aplee App.

Although Ms. Canfield contends she was constructively terminated and treated differently with regard to the City’s policies and procedures, she fails to

allege that she has been denied access to a grievance/appeals procedure, and indeed she has not. There is nothing in the record to indicate that Ms. Canfield ever attempted to avail herself of the City's available grievance/appeals procedure and, in fact, it is undisputed that she did not do so. In light of the Legislature's broad grant of authority to municipalities to regulate "operations" as the municipality "deems best," Ms. Canfield was required to pursue these internal remedies before bringing a lawsuit.

The fact that the exhaustion requirement applies to internal grievance and termination procedures of governmental entities is illustrated in numerous cases. For example, in *Long v. Samson*, 568 N.W.2d 602 (N.D. 1997), the North Dakota Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction of contract and tort claims by a professor who was formerly employed by the University of North Dakota. *Id.* at 606. In affirming, the court agreed with the trial court that the professor had failed to exhaust internal administrative remedies set forth in a Faculty Handbook. *Id.* at 603-604. As justification for the exhaustion requirement, the court pointed to the following language in a prior decision involving a doctor who failed to exhaust administrative remedies at the hospital where she was employed:

“ . . . an exhaustion of remedies requirement serves the salutary function of eliminating or mitigating damages. If an organization is given the opportunity quickly to determine through the operation of its internal procedures that it has committed error, it may be able to minimize, and sometimes eliminate, any monetary injury to the plaintiff by immediately reversing its initial decision and affording the aggrieved party all membership rights; an individual should not be permitted to increase damages by foregoing available internal remedies. . . . Moreover, by insisting upon exhaustion even in these circumstances, courts accord recognition to the ‘expertise’ of the organization’s quasi-judicial tribunal, permitting it to adjudicate the merits of plaintiff’s claim in the first instance. . . . Finally, even if the absence of an internal damage remedy makes ultimate resort to the courts inevitable . . . the prior judicial efficiency will still promote judicial efficiency by unearthing the relevant evidence and by providing a record which the court may review.”

*Id.* at 605 (citation omitted). This is consistent with other courts which have held that an employee must exhaust internal grievance procedures.<sup>19</sup>

In this case, Ms. Canfield now grounds her claims in the City’s “policies and procedures,” but she has failed to allege that she has exhausted the grievance procedures applicable to those policies and procedures. If Ms. Canfield or Utah other public employees are permitted to file lawsuits without first exhausting these

---

<sup>19</sup>*See, e.g., Bockover v. Perko*, 34 Cal. Rptr.2d 423 (Cal. Ct. App. 1994) (fired employee of public university laboratory must exhaust internal grievance procedure before filing lawsuit); *Aranoff v. Bryan*, 569 A.2d 466, 469-470 (Vt. 1989) (law clerk for state court must exhaust grievance procedure in judicial branch Personnel Policy before filing lawsuit); *Edgren v. Regents of Univ. of Cal.*, 205 Cal. Rptr. 6 (Cal. Ct. App. 1984) (dismissal appropriate because architect employed by state university failed to exhaust internal grievance policies).